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Executive Summary

Background:

In 1997, the 55th Montana Legislature established the Montana Heritage Preservation and Development Commission
(MHC) to acquire and manage historic properties for the State of Montana. This legislation approved the purchase of
Virginia and Nevada Cities comprising 248 buildings, 160 acres of land, and hundreds of thousands of artifacts. These large
historic town sites were the first properties managed by the MHC. Since 1997, the Montana Board of Land Commissioners
approved two additional acquisitions of historic Reeder’s Alley and the Pioneer Cabin in Helena. Reeder’s Alley was received
through a private donation on November 19, 2001. The Pioneer Cabin at the front of Reeder’s Alley was received from a
private donation on June 19, 2006. The Montana legislature authorizes the MHC to care for heritage resources “in a manner
that protects the properties and encourages economic independence” (MCA 22-3-1001). Our statutory purpose is to
acquire and manage, on behalf of the state, properties that possess outstanding historical value, display exceptional
qualities worth preserving, and are genuinely representative of the state’s culture and history. MHC has worked hard to
expand the economic and revenue generating uses for our state buildings. MHC is responsible for the management and
economic use of these historic properties including; building improvements, structural stabilization, site maintenance,
artifact conservation, and protection of diverse historic features. MHC serves as a resource for the public and professionals
interested in learning more about Montana history, historic building preservation, archaeology, conservation of artifacts,
education, living history, and historic site management.

Historical Significance:

Virginia City is Montana’s Territorial Capital (1865-1875). The size, scope, and quality of the historic site helped make
Virginia City one of the first National Historic Landmark Districts in Montana (1961). Nevada City is an assemblage of
approximately 60 historic buildings, some original to the site, and from across Montana and Yellowstone National Park.
Nevada City operates as an outdoor museum and hosts dozens of public educational events, with unique hands-on
experiences for visitors of all ages. Reeder’s Alley and Pioneer Cabin are the oldest remaining miner’s settlements in
Helena. These historic sites are significant to Montana and national history as places of western settlement and the
formation of Montana society.

Tourism and Business Development:

In 2012-2015 Virginia and Nevada City was ranked as the number one state owned tourist attraction according to the Office
of Tourism. The average tourist count is over 500,000 tourists from Memorial Day to Labor Day each year. The Montana
Heritage Commission also boasts the 2" largest Americana artifact site (Next to the Smithsonian) and was featured in the
New York Times. The Montana Heritage Commission has over 100 signed volunteers that help and assist with historic
interpretation and help interpret Montana’s early years in 1863 with the Montana Vigilantes. The Montana Heritage
Commission leases its buildings to over 42 different concessionaires as well as running several of its own business
operations. In 2015 we completed an economic impact report by the Rocky Mountain Economic District which indicated
Virginia and Nevada City contribute 62.2 million in economic impact for the state and helps to employ 1025 people.

The Montana Heritage Commission is in process of submitting a Long Range Building request for the 2019 Biennium for

the repairs, maintenance and preservation of the many buildings that MHC has stewardship over. We are pleased with the
record tourist revenue we have generated over the last years which helps to contribute to the needs associated with costs
to preserve this valuable historic landmark. We are continually exploring all options to help in financial assistance to help us
preserve and repair these historical buildings along with getting our staff to the recommended and efficient levels in
managing our historic sites.

We want to express our gratitude to the State Historic Preservation Office for their assistance in recommendations and
consultation with our ongoing programmatic agreement.

Please use the information below to reference questions in Section (A) and (B)




The following is a summary breakdown of all the heritage structures that the Montana Heritage Commission manages in Virginia and
Nevada City, along with Reeder’s Alley in Helena, Montana. The red highlighted structures (Top 20%) are those we feel need the most
attention to help restore the historical integrity of Montana’s history, fix harmful structures that can be dangerous to our tourists and to
also help generate revenue earning projects that will help reduce future funding requests. The price estimates are for supplies and labor
of those properties that will be needed outside our MHC preservation team skillset. We inputted estimated funds from bids from
contractors, engineering firms and the Montana Heritage Commission preservation crew who have close to 30 years of combined

preservation experience.

Virginia City Structures

(Virginia City Historic District, V001-V127)

Block 145

V001 Ford Bovey Stone House
V002 Ford Bovey Cabin

V003 Tack Shed

V004 Log Barn

Block 156
V005 Stone Cellar (ruins)

Block 147
V006 Original Brewery Dugout Cabin

Block 151
V007 Ford’s Old House

Block 152
V008 Sim Ferguson Cabin

Block 153

V009 Arizona Commodities Inc. (Kisling House)
V010 Thexton House (Kitson House)

V011 Old House

Block 154

V014 Aunt Julia’s House (In Process)
V015 Aunt Julia’s Structure

V016 Dance and Stuart Store

V017 Pitman Gas Station & Shed

Cabbage Patch

V018 Barn

V019 Shed toward Street
V020 Shed east of Barn
V021 Shed with Display
V022 Structure

Block 154 continued
V023 Dress Shop (Kramer)
V024 McGovern Barn

V025
V026
V027
V028
Vo029
V030
V031
V032
V033
V034
V035
V036
V037
V038
Vo039

Block 155

Vo040

Tin Clad

Weston Hotel

McGovern Store

McGovern Structure

Tobacco Shop

Jewelry Store

Outhouses behind Jewelry
Toy Store

Toy Store Ground Floor Structure
Toy Store Two Story Structure
City Bakery

Kiskadden Barn

Kiskadden Barn Structure
Fairweather Inn (In Process)
Fairweather Inn Annex

Montana Post and Stone Print Shop (In Process)

Block 156

V041

Tin Shed

Block 158

Vo042

V043
V044

Brewery (Montana’s Oldest Brewery Building)
(In Process)

Pottery Shop

Gilbert House

Daylight Village Cabins, North Row

V045
V046
V047
V048
V049

Cabin1 &2
Cabin3 &4
Cabin5&6
Cabin7 &8
Cabin9 & 10

Daylight Village Cabins, Middle Row

V050
V051
V052
V053

Building by Pottery Shop (Girls Cabins)
Boiler and Restrooms

Office

Building on East End (Boys Cabin)




Daylight Village Cabins, South Row

V054
V055
V056
V057

Block 183
V058
V059
V060
V061
V062

Block 193
V065

V066
V067
V068
V070
V071
V072
V073
V074
V075
V076
V077
V078
V079
V080
Vo081
V082
V083
Vo84
V085
V086
V087
V088
V089
V090
V091

Block 194
V093
V094
V095
V096
V097
V098
V099

West Building No. 25 - 28
Numbers 29 - 32

East Building No. 33 - 38
Village Pump (In Process)

Bickford House (In Process)
Small sheds by House

Log Barn (no roof, ruin)
Chicken house (near ruin)
Sheds, no roof (near ruin)

Content’s Corner

(Montana’s Territorial Capital Building)
Content’s Corner Root Cellar

Fire Station Display

Variety Store

E.L. Smith Store

Ice House behind E.L. Smith

Wells Fargo Display

Assay Office

Buford Store

Buford Center Wells Fargo Building (In Process)
Buford Steel Storage

Elling Store (MHC Office located behind)
Boots & Shoes (old office

Photo Shop

Shingle Shed

Barber Shop

Virginia City Trading Company

Prasch Blacksmith Shop

Sauerbier Blacksmith Shop

Bale of Hay Saloon (In Process)

Bale of Hay Connection

Opera House (In Process)

Opera House Shop

Opera House Scenery Shed

Mutt Dixon House (Custom Shack)

Mutt Dixon Shed

Virginia City Depot
Green Front Hotel
Green Front Restaurant
Motor Car Shed

Little Joe’s Cabin

Little Joe’s Structure
Dry Bean Shed

Block 196
V100
V101
V102
V103
V104
V105
V106
V107
V108
V109
V110
V111
V112
V113
V114

Block 197
V115
V116
V117
V118

V119
V120

Block 198
V121
V122
V123
V124
V125

V126
V127

Fayette Harrington Cabin
Player’s Bath House
Ruby Cabin

School House Cabin

Iron Rod Cabin

Duck Pond Cabin

Axolotl Lake Cabin
Rehearsal Hall

White Building

White Building Structure
Bonanza Inn Coal Shed
Bonanza Inn

Nunnery

North Jack Taylor Cabin
South Jack Taylor Cabin

Susan Marr House

Smitty’s Garage

Smitty’s Coal shed

Governor Thomas Francis Meagher House
(In Process)

“Lightning Splitter”

Ron Abbie Cabin

Methodist Church

Dr. Daeme’s House West
Dr. Daeme’s House East
Hickman House (Fairchild)
Hickman Shed

Small Red Building on Railroad West Side
McFarland Curatorial Center

Nevada City Structures

NO008
NO030

Dr. Byam House
Finney House

Helena, Montana Structures

Reeder’s Alley (16 Individual Units)

Stonehou

se Building (In Process)

Pioneer Cabin (In Process)

Caretakers Cabin




V001

Denoting numerous
additions and renovations,
the Ford Bovey House
possibly originated as a
saddlebag stone building.
Shortly thereafter the
southernmost stone
portion was added. In the
1970’s the entire structure
was extensively renovated
to include a frame addition
and large garage area.
After being purchased by
the Montana Heritage
Commission the garage
became the preservation
shop and a residence used
to house various MHC
employees and volunteers.

Location

Block 145 - Cover Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1864
Date of Preservation

1973

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$35,000

Ford Bovey House & Preservation
Shop

Front door of Bovey House

New roof needed

Garage currently used as Preservation Shop




V002

This cabin was built by
Charles Bovey for his son
Ford Bovey. It is now
currently used for storage
by the Preservation Crew.

Location

Block 145 - Cover Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1952
Date of Preservation

2001

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$15,000
|

Ford Bovey Cabin

Ford Bovey cabin

Interior needs to be finished along with plumbing and electrical installed

Window preservation needed




V003

Currently used for storage
by the Preservation Crew,
the tack shed sits on
railroad ties for a
foundation.

Location

Block 145 - Cover Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1952

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000

Tack Shed

New roof needed

Needs siding repair and replacement




V004

The Bovey’s moved this
residential barn to its
current site. This one and
a half story structure sits
on a poured concrete
foundation and is used for
storage by the
Preservation Crew.

Location

Block 145 - Cover Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1952
Date of Preservation
2007

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000
i

Bovey Barn

Bovey Barn

Needs daubing finished

Wall boards need repairing or to be replaced




Stone Cellar

V005

Measuring roughly 25’
wide and 6’ in height, these
ruins retain high integrity
for their location in
Virginia City. It is possible
gas tanks are located
behind the ruins as part of
the Bovey Era Village
Pump station.

Located in the far front yard of the Bovey House

Location

Block 156 - Cover Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1955

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$25,000

10




V006

This cabin is likely one of
the earlier buildings
constructed in association
with the Gilbert Brewery.
This structure sits right
behind the Brewery and
has the measurements of
14’ wide and 6’ height.

Location

Block 147 - Cover Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed

1863

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$45,000

(Endangered)
T

Brewery Dugout Cabin

The entire cabin must be excavated from hillside

Whole east wall of cabin has collapsed

New logs and foundation will need to be constructed

11




V007

This home was probably
built by |.T. Henderson.
Charles Raper owned it
from 1954 to 1970 and had
remodeled it. Ford Bovey
occupied it from 1970 to
1974. Itis now used as a
rental home.

Location

Block 151 - Cover Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1867
Date of Preservation
2012

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$30,000

Ford’s Old House

Ford’s Old House

Sill logs are rotting around entire cabin. New foundation is needed

Window Preservation needed throughout

12




V008

Sim Ferguson lived here in
the 1920s-1950s. Single
room structure measures
16’8” wide and 25°6” deep
with an 8’ height. The
foundation is of lime
mortared field stone and in
excellent condition. A
French drain was installed
around the perimeter of
building. Overall this
building is a prototype of
the work the MHC can do,
and should be shown off as
so.

Location

Block 152 - Cover Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1870’s
Date of Preservation

2005

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000
e

Sim Ferguson Cabin

After preservation

Before preservation

Before — Fire damage to northwest corner, weathered logs, and
overgrowth

13




V009

This cabin was probably
built by George Thexton.
This residential structure
measures 30’ wide by 20’
deep. It is one and a half
stories sitting on a
perimeter foundation of
mortared field stone in
excellent condition. The
log hewn log structure is

clad in lap siding, currently

in good condition. It is
currently used as a
residence to house various
MHC employees and
volunteers. Overall this
building is an outstanding
example of MHC work.

Location

Block 153 - Cover Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
ca. 1900
Date of Preservation
2005-2006

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000

Arizona Commodities Inc.

(Kisling Cabin)

After — North facade after preservation

Before — North facade

After — Southeast corner, new foundation

14




Before -Southeast corner, below grade

After — finished floor complete with baseboard trim in
the loft area

Before- Wall paper falling off, planks exposed

15

After — kitchen area finished. Cabinets built by
Preservation crew and the chimney is left covered in
Plexiglas as a “window in time”

Before- Tongue and groove flooring

After - Original flooring put back in sanded about to get a
finish coat




V010

This home may have been
George Thexton'’s first
house and was later
occupied by Walter Kitson.
It is one and a half story
hewn log structure sitting
on a perimeter foundation
of mortared fieldstone in
good condition. The log
structure is set in steeple
notches and finished with
board and batten in the
eves. Overall this structure
has lost much of its historic
integrity due to extensive
alteration. Itis used as a
residence to house various
MHC employees and
volunteers.

Location

Block 153 - Cover Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
ca. 1865
Date of Preservation
1990’s

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$15,000

Thexton House (Kitson House)

Needs a new roof

16




V011

This building was
originally occupied by E.
Moore in 1864, and later
deeded to Milp S. Burrnett,
who applied for a city deed
in November 1869. This
small structure is currently
in use as residential
storage for the Kitson
House. The frame
structure has no
foundation leading to
direct contact with the
ground and therefore in
danger of deterioration.
The structure is sheathed
in clapboard siding and the
frame roof is sheathed in
wood shingles.

Location

Block 153 - Cover Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1864

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$10,000

17

Old House

New siding, foundation, roof needed




Aunt Julia’s House

V014 & V015

Carpenter, cabinetmaker and
lumber dealer Julius Kohls
purchased this lot from J.F. Stoer
in 1875. Early photographs
suggest that this was the site of
the famous Leviathan Hall
where the longest documented
bare knuckle fight (185 rounds)
took place between Hugh O’Neill Aunt Julia’s House
and Con Orem on January 2,
1865. Kohls, whose lumberyard
was just across Wallace Street,
completed this frame dwelling
before 1878 and lived here until
about 1920. “Aunt Julia”

Elledge, a daughter of Virginia
City pioneer Lucien Romey, lived
in the home until the 1950s. The
T-shaped house with its original
picket fence fronting Wallace
Street is an excellent example of
the rural residential character of
Virginia City’s main street and
nicely illustrates the evolution of
building materials from log to

frame Walls of the root cellar were stabilized and the exterior was fully restored

(See 2015 Annual Report for detailed work and restoration)
Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1875
Date of Preservation
2015
Estimated Cost to Preserve

Completed

18




V016

James Stuart and his brother
Granville set up the first
sluices boxes in the northern
Rockies in 1852. Delaware
opened their mercantile in
November, 1863. One of
Virginia City’s most complete
and respected shops Dance
and Stuart also briefly
housed the post office. Club
Foot George Lane, reputed
member of the infamous
Plummer Gang, lived at the
store and was arrested there
by the Vigilantes in 1864.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1863

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$25,000

Dance & Stuart Store

Dance & Stuart

Back of building

Needs to be oiled

Foundation and log work on front of building needed

19




V017

Charlie Bovey made
Pittman’s gas station into a
telephone display in 1972.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1939
Date of Preservation

2008

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000

Pitman Gas Station & Shed

Front of building

Back of Gas Station & Shed

Deteriorated lap siding needs to be replaced

20




V018-vV022,V025

This small L-shaped collection of
outbuildings appears in historic
photographs dating to the
1860s. Originally owned by
Walter Dance & James Stuart
among others, E. W. Driggs
owned the property by 1869.
The small board-and-batten
buildings served as barn, coal
shed and outbuilding. Such
buildings were essential
elements of daily life in the
nineteenth century. Zena Hoff, a
Bovey employee, recreated a
series of cribs in the buildings,
using her own personal
experience as a former “girl of
the line” and later madam in the
famous “Cabbage Patch” in
Butte, MT. The exteriors of these
early essential outbuildings are
unchanged and thus add
significantly to the 1860s
Virginia City “image.”

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1869-1907
Date of Preservation
2005

Estimated Cost to Preserve

$50,000

Cabbage Patch Shed, Barn, Shed East
of Barn, Shed with display &
Outhouse, Tin Clad Shed

Cabbage Patch Barn. Entire Cabbage Patch complex needs to be jacked up,
stabilized and sill logs and plates replaced.

Shed East of Barn

Shed with display

21




Entire Cabbage Patch needs to be excavated for
foundations.

Shed

Entire Cabbage Patch needs flooring to be restored or
replaced

Outhouse. Entire Cabbage Patch needs roof system to be
restored or replaced

Water damaged walls

Tin Clad Shed

North wall failing

22




Vo023

The hasty construction of this
remarkably preserved early
dwelling reflects the excitement of
the gold rush to Alder Gulch
during the summer of 1863. Its
original dirt-covered pole roof
predates the first saw mills; the
roof was later covered over with
sawn boards. The interior
illustrates the once-common use
of muslin stretched over logs to
imitate a smooth plastered wall.
Early occupants were blacksmiths,
and during the 1880s and 1890s
Julius and Frederick Kramer
operated a saddler here. Living
quarters were located in the rear,
a common arrangement in mining
camps and frontier towns.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation
2005-2010

Estimated Cost to Preserve

$25,000

Dress Shop (Kramer)

Kramer Building

Before awning preservation

New awning installed in 2009

23




Deteriorated building material which was damaged from
ground water issues and an elevated grade was replaced.
A short French drain is employed to direct water away
from an inside corner.

An improved foundation system and a drainage system
was installed for the west wall.

Replacement of rotten fascia boards, log splices and
Dutchmen repair was completed to select areas.

24

Stabilization treatments were done to the building
including digging five footings

Steel bracing installed on east wall

Foundation work needed on front of building




V024

Owned by I. C. Smith in
1875.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1874
Date of Preservation

2001

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$30,000

25

McGovern Barn

Needs to be excavated for foundation

Framing structure starting to deflect and fail




V026

D. H. Weston owned this
hotel which has a series of
four tiny rooms with
accommodations at a
premium.

Location
Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation
2009

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$15,000

Weston Hotel

Front of building needs oiling; Needs New Roof

Flooring before preservation

Flooring after preservation

26




Skylight before preservation work

Skylight after preservation work

Before - preservation of western wall

After- Finished look of western wall. Plexiglass window
installed to see logs

Before- 3" room had had severe water damage

After- 3 room walls complete and plexiglass over
northern wall to protect historic wall coverings

27




V027 & V028

This 1863 building features
a classic Greek Revival
style storefront with
French doors, typical of the
1860s frontier. The lintel
above the doors still bears
the name of G. Goldberg,
who ran the Pioneer
Clothing Store Company
prior to 1866. Circa 1908
sisters Hanna and Mary
McGovern moved their
ladies clothing store here.
It remains today exactly as
it was left on the last day of
business in1945.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation
2008-2009

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$20,000

McGovern Store & Outhouse

Front of building

Back porch — Foundation work needed

Outhouse located behind the store needs to be jacked up stabilized with
timber placed underneath it

28




Water damage to the eastern wall and ceiling in kitchen
and side room

Planks from the eastern wall were removed to reveal
extent of damage

Portions of the damaged historic lath and select vertical
planks are removed to provide access to the original
splice point of the log members and allow for the
installation of a vertical support and cleat system

29

Eastern wall covering and ceiling conservation in kitchen
and side room with original paper samples

Narrow alleyway between the McGovern and
Strasburger stores had long provided a pathway for
water and ice to intrude into the interior spaces of both
buildings

A new footing system was created to stabilize the
eastern log wall and to assist in diverting moisture from
entering the alleyway




Tobacco Shop

V029

This building was probably
built by ]. Samuels & Co. It
was operated as
Strausburer’s “Colorado
Store” from 1865-1870s.
Charles Bovey used it as a
tobacco store display.

Tobacco Shop
Location
Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed Damaged lathe and plaster work needs to be repaired on ceiling
1863

Date of Preservation
2005

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$45,000

Damaged lathe and plaster work needs to be repaired on walls

Foundation and log work needed

30




V030 & V031

Inspired by the Renaissance
Revival style, the impressive
fagade of this building reveals a
storefront design very innovative
from the 1860s. By the 1880s
this “reverse bay style” door and
window arrangement became a
standard storefront treatment.
The facade remains unchanged
today except for the replacement
of the center door, circa 1890.
The building houses two shops;
Isador Strasburger operated a
men’s clothing shop in the larger
section until the mid-1870s.
After 1878 the building served as
a residence for many years. The
Boveys recreated a jewelry store,
similar to J. B. Labeau’s two
doors up, and added the porch in
1949.

Location

Block 154 — Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date of Construction
1863
Estimated Cost to Preserve

$35,000

Jewelry Store & Outhouse

Jewelry Store

Jewelry Store Outhouse

Cracked plaster

31




v032,V033,V034

Ford, Robinson and Clark
built this narrow building in
late 1863 or early 1864. ].
B. LaBeau purchased it for
$500 in 1865 to house his
shop, and pioneer surgeon
Dr. I. C. Smith established
his office here in 1870. In
the 1890s the building was
known as the Anaconda
Hotel Annex (the Anaconda
is now the Fairweather Inn).
Inter-connecting rooms
made a nighttime visit to
the two-story privy out
back, once accessed by a
bridge, hardly private. In
1948 the Bovey'’s recreated
a toy store in the building
and added a porch to
protect its classic Greek
Revival fagade.

Location
Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1863/1864

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$25,000

Toy Store

Toy Store

Ground Floor Outhouse

Two Story Outhouse

32




Rotten and moldy ceiling coverings

Failing ceilings

Failing wall coverings

33

Outhouse needs to be leveled and stabilized

Outhouse held up currently by ratchet straps

Foundation work needed




V035

N. Ford, ]. G. Robinson, and A.
O’Connel evidently built this
stone structure and sold it to
John Oliver on July 12, 1864, for
$2,500. It was then known as
Oliver & Gauthur’s City Bakery.
In 1868 it was sold to B. D.
Maxham, a grocer, in 1878 it
was a tailor shop and in 1884 it
was a Chinese laundry. An
abundance of Chinese artifacts
were found when the floor was
being reconstructed in the
1940s. Charlie Bovey bought the
site in 1947 having Harvey
Romey run a barber shop and
state liquor store here till 1952.
After that Mrs. Bovey ran
“Hitching Post Clothing Store”
for a few years.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation

2005

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$20,000

City Bakery

City Bakery

Large cracks on rear fagade

Crack monitor placed on rear fagade shows growing displacement at an
alarming rate
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V036 & V037

Virginia City’s first stone
building, constructed during the
summer of 1863, originally
housed three stores on the
ground floor and a meeting hall
upstairs. Popular legend has
long designated this as the
meeting place of the Vigilantes,
who prosecuted and hung two
dozen outlaw road agents in
Virginia City between 1863 and
1864. Grocer William
Kiskadden, the original
occupant, married the former
Mrs. Jack Slade after Slade was
hung by the Vigilantes.
Blacksmith George Thexton
remodeled the building as a
livery in the early 1870s,
removing one of the two original
center doors to enlarge the
entrance and reusing it on the
hay loft above.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation

2002-2007

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$55,000

Kiskadden Barn

Kiskadden Barn street view

Back of Kiskadden Barn

What is left of the outhouse in back of barn
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Metal roofing & sheathing will have to be removed to try
and pull the deflection out

Entire roof framing needs to have new framing sistered
toit

36

New roof will need to be installed

False front is starting to fail on the top. Rotten wood will
need to be removed and then framing and planks
installed. Siding needs to be repaired or replaced.




V038 & V039

The oldest section of this building,
dating to 1863, was first a simple
one-story building which housed a
restaurant called the “Young
American Eating House.” A
butcher shop followed from 1866
to the 1880s, and then in the
1880s the building was a
hotel/saloon. It became the
Anaconda Hotel and Saloon in the
1890s under proprietor Frank
McKeen. Renaming it the
Fairweather Inn after the
discoverer of gold in Alder Gulch,
in 1946 Charlie Bovey raised the
height of the old hotel to two
stories and added a “new” facade
that duplicates the gold rush era
design of the then-demolished
Goodrich House in Bannack.

Location

Block 154 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation
2003; 2015

Estimated Cost to Preserve

$135,000

Fairweather Inn & Annex

The Fairweather Inn is in process of completing the much needed
plumbing; New roof; Exterior painting; Window Preservation
The detailed progress will be available on the 2016 Annual Report and
online at www.virginiacitymt.com. The anticipated completion date is
May 1% 2016.

Needs new foundation on back and left side of building.
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V040

This building was constructed of
logs by D. W. Tilton in the fall of
1863, and housed Montana’s
first newspaper, founded in
1864. The stone print shop at
the rear was completed in
January, 1865, and the following
year a new Gothic style facade
was applied over the log section.
Editor Thomas J. Dimsdale first
published his Vigilantes of
Montana in serial form in the
Post in 1865-1866. It became
the first book published in
Montana, also printed here. A
fire in 1937 destroyed the
wooden sections of the building.
The Historic Landmark Society
of Montana, with donations from
Charles Bovey, repaired the
stone walls and faithfully
reconstructed the original log
structure in 1946.

Location
Block 155 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863

Date of Preservation
1946;2015

Estimated Cost to Preserve
$135,000

Montana Post & Stone Print Shop

The Montana Post received structural repair and exterior siding and
boardwalk replacement in 2015

Eastern fagade

A view of the bowed out interior wall; This is going to be completed in
the summer of 2016.
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Cracks are already appearing on the outside above where
the section of stone has failed in the basement

Rotten window sills
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Rotten door threshold

Stabilizing timbers are a temporary solution for this
unreinforced wall




V041

This building has no
historical significance.

Location

Block 156 - Van Buren
Street, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1954

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$1,000
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Tin Shed

Tin Shed




]
V042

The Gilbert Brewery was the first
brewery in Montana and was
founded by Henry Gilbert,
Christen Richter, and William
Smith in 1863. Several additions
to the 1860s building expanded
the booming business.
Proprietor Henry Gilbert’s home
and the century-old willows of
his “beer garden” park enhance
the landscape. The brewery was
closed by Prohibition in 1919
and Gilbert Beer, proclaimed by
connoisseurs among the nation’s
best, was made no longer.
Charlie Bovey stabilized the
building in 1946 and later
remodeled the interior, but
original brewing equipment
remains in place.

Location

Block 158 - Hamilton & Cover
Streets, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863-80’s
Date of Preservation

2002-2010; 2015

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$45,000

Gilbert Brewery

First Brewery in Montana

In 2015 we were able to fix front structure; exterior siding and
boardwalk along with some capital improvements with seating;
reception desk and electrical replacements.

(See below of the necessary improvements that still need to be completed)
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Finish floor in the malting tower

Remove the steel structure from inside malting tower

Repoint the cracks
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Foundation and sill work needed

North wall needs repair




V043

This building was the
Gilbert Brewery bottling
plant before 1884. It was
converted to a pottery shop
by Sue Bovey in the late
1940s.

Location

Block 158 - Hamilton
Street, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1864
Date of Preservation
2005

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$115,000

Pottery Shop & Bottling Building

Located right next to the Brewery

Failed brick on NE corner

Cracking brick
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East wall failed

East wall removed
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Ceiling boards damaged and missing

Daylight shows through a wall, along with missing ceiling
boards




V044

Christian Richter, Henry Gilbert’s
partner in the brewing business,
built a home on this site in 1864 and
soon added a stone wing. Gilbert
purchased both Richter’s interest in
the business and the house, moving
his own dwelling to adjoin it on the
east in 1873. Margaret and Henry
Gilbert raised fifteen children in the
sprawling home, including
daughters Amelia and Clara who
were the first twins born in the area.
Gilbert had a varied career as
teacher, saddler, and trader before
coming to Virginia City at the height
of the gold rush. He was a
prominent member of the early
community, serving 2 terms as
mayor of Virginia City as well as
county treasurer and assessor.
Gilbert met a tragic end in 1903
when his wagon overturned and
pinned him underneath. Several of
his sons carried on the brewery
business until it closed in 1919.

Location

Block 158 - Hamilton
Street, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1864

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$200,000

Gilbert House

Front view of Gilbert House

Above — Water damaged lath and plaster is assessed to provide an access
point to the attic.

The facing section of wood trim is removed from the opening in the
stone portion to gauge the extent of Carpenter ant activity. Damage is
visible on the remaining portion of trim where it meets the floor.
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It is strongly suspected that the Gilbert family utilized a
natural spring presence in this area to supply water
needs to the residence, which is supported in part by the
presence of moss and other organic growth occurring
year-round

Northeast corner of the north room has settled more
than a foot below grade.

Critically deteriorated sill and foundation system below
the plank wall surface and plaster failure
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The north portion looking east arguably suffers from the
most moisture damage and persisting conditions.

Portions of damaged plaster and lath above the chair rail
in the south room.

With the exception of log joist members all wooden
support members are critically deteriorated.




Daylight Village Cabins 1 - 10

V045 - V049

The north row of cabins
was originally 10 Stout
Houses which were mass
produced, collapsible
buildings used for
temporary housing during
World War II. These were
originally at Richland,
Washington, at a nuclear
weapons plant, and then
moved to Montana State
College in Bozeman after
the war. Charlie Bovey
acquired them around
1948 and moved them to
this site and remodeled the
buildings into motel units.

Cabins1 &2

Location

Block 158 — Between Cabins 3 & 4
Hamilton & Spencer
Streets, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1948

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$100,000

Cabins 5 & 6
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Cabins 7 & 8

Cabins 9 & 10

Entire row of cabins needs siding, window, and door
repairs.

New roof and ceilings needed throughout all the cabins

False fronts need to be stabilized and repaired
throughout all the cabins
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V050, V053-V056

Charlie Bovey built these to
match the north row of
cabins which were
originally 10 Stout Houses
which were mass produced,
collapsible buildings used
for temporary housing
during World War I1.

These were used as
housing for employees.

Location

Block 158 - Between
Hamilton & Spencer
Streets, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1950/2015

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

Completed

Building by Pottery Shop (Girls Cabins), Building on
East End (Boys Cabin), West Building # 25-28, # 29-32,
East Building #33-38

These buildings were fixed up with electrical and plumbing
upgrades; New Roofs/windows and door replacements. These
house the MHC seasonals and Volunteers each year.

(See detailed information on the 2015 MHC Annual Report)

Building by Pottery Shop (Girls Cabin)

Building on East End (Boys Cabin)
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Cabin 29-32

West Building No. 25-28

50

East Building No. 33-38




V051

Boiler and restrooms were
installed with the other
Daylight Cabins to
replicate Stout Houses
which were mass produced,
collapsible buildings used
for temporary housing
during World War I1L.

Location

Block 158 - Between
Hamilton & Spencer
Streets, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1950/2014-2015

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

Completed

Boiler & Restrooms

Boiler & Restrooms

(This serves as shared bathrooms and showering facilities for
MHC seasonals and Volunteers)

This restroom was repaired along with new showers; plumbing and

interior and exterior repairs. For a detailed look, please see the 2015
MHC Annual Report.
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V052

Office was installed with
the other Daylight Cabins
to replicate Stout Houses
which were mass produced,
collapsible buildings used
for temporary housing
during World War I1.

Location

Block 158 - Between
Hamilton & Spencer
Streets, Virginia City

Date Constructed
1950

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

Completed
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Daylight Village Office

New siding and new roof needed

Ceiling boards missing




V057

This building was built by
Charles Bovey to house his
antique automobile

collection and gas station.

We are currently working
with Headwaters
development district to
help restore this facility
into an information center
and a historic gas station

Location

Block 158 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1955

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$150,000

Village Pump

Village Pump

Roof line has separated

Decorative cornice pieces failing and separating from building

(Please see 2015 MHC Annual Report on the progress of this project)
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Floor is deflecting and in need of stabilization

Inside view of the West wall separating due to poor
foundation and structural integrity
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Outside view of West wall separating. Needs to be
excavated, new foundation poured underneath building,
and stabilization treatments throughout




V058 - V062

The earliest part of this
house was built by Lucien
Romey. It was owned by
the Bickford family from
1894 to 1947. In the
1920’s the house was
remodeled with the logs
being covered in stucco.

Sarah Bickford was
inducted into the Montana
Historical Society Hall of
Famein 2013.

Location

Block 183 - Hwy 287,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1864
Date of Preservation

2002/2015

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$35,000

Sarah Bickford House

Bickford House

Bickford House

In 2015-2016 we are under process to finish roof; stabilize the left side of
building and fix the interior with flooring and wall replacement along
with adding new appliances and plumbing.
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V065 & V066

This building was the
area’s most impressive
business space at the time
it was constructed in 1864.
Stucco scored to look like
stone originally covered
the rubble stone walls, and
Gothic transoms lent a
civilized dignity. While
Virginia City was
Montana’s Territorial
Capital (1865-1975), the
second floor held the entire
territorial government
offices. The first floor held
such businesses as a
grocery, clothing, retail,
hardware stores and a bar.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed
1864
Date of Preservation

2003-2005

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$125,000

Content’s Corner

(Montana’s Territorial Capital Building from 1864-1875)

Seismic plan needs to be installed on lower floor; New Roof; Fire proofed

Root Cellar located in the back of the building

Stone wall needs repointing/replacement
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V067

This building was built by
Charlie Bovey as a
reproduction of Vetter’s
Boot and Show Store ca.
1860s. It used to house a
fire department display but
now houses a jewelry store
by a concessionaire.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1948
Date of Preservation
2004

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000
i

Fire Station Display (Ruby Chang’s)

Front of building needs oiling and siding repairs
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V068

This building was built by
Charlie Bovey as a
reproduction of a ca. 1860s
building. It housed a penny
arcade until the 1980s. In
2009 it opened as the
Gypsy Arcade housing the
infamous Gypsy.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1860s;1946
Date of Preservation
2009

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000

Variety Store (Gypsy Arcade)

Front of building needs oiling and siding repairs
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V070 & V071

The Star Billiard Hall
followed by the Gurney and
Co., a shoe dealer were two
of the first tenants of this
building. About 1876 the
store was the “New York
One Price Clothing House,”
as a large sign on the front
proclaimed. Many of the
items displayed here are
from Smith’s actual
inventory. The design of
this false-fronted wooden
shop includes hand hewn
timbers and bay windows
which are said to have
been Montana’s first “show
windows.”

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1863

Estimated Price to
Preserve

$35,000

E. L. Smith Store & Icehouse

False fronted shop

Icehouse behind the building

Structural issues with the foundation
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Missing flooring

Damaged flooring

Structural issues inside
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Major stabilization repair needed to ice house

Major structural repair needed to ice house




V072

James Ptorney and
McClurg originally
occupied this site in 1863.
In 1873 it was Ten Pin
Alley Saloon and in 1878 it
was the U. S. Post Office.
Then in 1899 the Wells
Fargo office moved to this
site and was here till it
closed its office in Virginia
City. Charlie Bovey bought
the building in 1946.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation
2007

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$50,000

Wells Fargo Display

Front of building

Interior damage to historic lathe and plaster

Exterior wood needs oiling

CMU wall Needs to be excavated and stabilized

61




V073

Built by Charlie Bovey as a
reproduction of Turley
Barbershop from 1864 and
was then used as an Assay
Office Display.

Location
Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1864;1948

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$35,000

Assay Office

Front of building

Floor joists are rotting making the floor boards loose and unsafe to walk
on

Complete floor replacement needed for display
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Buford Store

V074

This was Virginia City’s first
brick building built by clothing
merchant E. |. Walter. The
bricks are said to have been
produced locally from clay at
Central City as a test before the
construction of the Madison
County Courthouse. Backed by
banker Henry Elling, Simeon R.
Buford opened the region’s
largest grocery store here in
1878. Buford'’s was the supply
point for most of southwestern
Montana, including the infant
“Butte City.” Most of the
merchandise displayed,
including the canned goods,
came from Buford’s inventory.

Buford Store

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1875

Date of Preservation

N/A Rubber sheeting and plywood buttresses are employed to keep the brick
X parapet from collapsing
Estimated Cost to
Preserve
$115,000

This structure need to be re-paired with masonry work.
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Buford Center

(Wells Fargo Coffee House)
V075

S.R. Buford purchased this
lot and tore down the
original Wells Fargo
building, roofing between
his two brick stores to
house his new grocery
department. He died in
1905 but his business was
carried on by his 3 sons
until 1926. In 1932 it
became a mortuary until
the business was moved up Wells Fargo Coffee House
the streetin 1935. The
building was empty until
Bovey bought the building
in 1946 and opened it as
the Wells Fargo Coffee
House in 1947.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City Floor replacement needed throughout
Date Constructed

MHC preservation crew is in process of redoing all flooring; heat and

1899 electrical upgrades; Appliance repair and painting of the exterior and
Date of Preservation interior. The project should be completed by May of 2016. Please refer to
our web-site at virginiacitymt.com and 2016 MHC annual report for
2003;2016 details of completed project.
Estimated Cost to
Preserve

In process of completion
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V076

Henry Elling had his first
store on this site in 1867.
It was then sold to Buford
in 1886 and the brick
building was constructed
as an addition to his other
store on the other side of
the Wells Fargo Coffee
House.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1886

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$105,000

Buford Steel Storage

Buford Steel Storage

Stone walls need to be repointed

Repoint brick wall

Repoint and consolidate west wall
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V077

Henry Elling, one of Montana’s
early prominent businessmen,
first arrived in Virginia City in
1864 with a small stock of men’s
clothing. In 1867 Elling
returned to Virginia City and
opened a store where the Buford
warehouse is now located.
Elling moved his thriving
business to Content’s Corner in
1872. He became involved in
buying and selling gold, entered
the banking business in 1873,
was eventually involved in most
mining and mercantile ventures
in the area and in banking
throughout Montana. Charlie
Bovey built this reproduction of
the original Elling Store with its
Greek Revival storefront and
museum display as part of his
intent to create “living history.”

Location
Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1864;1948

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$25,000
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Elling Store

Needs some siding repair and to be oiled




V078

This building based on a
1870s historic photograph
that Charlie Bovey built. It
was used as an office for a
while but now it is just
used as a display.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1948

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000
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Boots & Shoes

Needs some siding repair and to be oiled




V079 & V080

This building has box
cornice, wide plank
flooring, and Greek Revival
pilasters much as it did
when it was built. Owner
W. P. Armstrong had his
boot and shoe shop here
for a time and then the
property was purchased by
Jacob Dick a cabinet maker
and painter in 1883. The
attached shed was
probably built by Jacob
Dick.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City
Date Constructed

1865

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$25,000

Photo Shop & Shingle Shed

Photo Shop

Shingle Shed roof starting to fail

Roof needs to be stabilized and repaired
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Vo081

This narrow frame building may
be one of Virginia City’s earliest
structures, dating to the summer
of 1863 when buildings like this
were rented for up to $175
during the initial gold rush. Its
odd-sized door appears to have
been locally handmade. First
owner D. H. Weston also owned
a “hotel” across the street, and S.
L. Simpson and J. G. Vetters,
owners in the 1870s, may have
rented this building as a
tonsorial parlor. An early photo
shows a barber pole out front.
The building served as a
residence from the 1880s until
1946 when the Boveys acquired
it.

Location

Block 193 -Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed

1863

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$45,000

S. L. Simpson Building
(Barber Shop)

Barber Shop

Interior damage from leaking roof

Interior wall damage needs repair and a new roof
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V082

This building was based on
an 1875 historic
photograph and was built
by Charlie Bovey. The
original building here was
a shoe store which was
torn down by 1941. Bovey
used this as a clothing
display and office. It is now
used as a rock shop by a
concessionaire.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1875;1950

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$5,000

Virginia City Trading Company

Needs some siding repair and to be oiled
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V083

This building was probably a
dance hall or saloon in the mid-
1860s run by owner John
Trollman. By the 1870s, a larger
door and higher roof had been
added to accommodate Frank
Prasch and Fred Kohls’
blacksmith shop. Prasch
operated the shop until about
1914, then sold out to Louis
Romey who continued until
1946. The building, in near ruin,
was rescued by the Historic
Landmark Society of Montana.
With funds donated by C. A.
Bovey, its false front was rebuilt
using vintage board and square
nails.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
Prior to 1865
Date of Preservation
2004, 2005, 2008

Estimated Cost to Preserve

$125,000

Prasch Blacksmith Shop

Prasch Blacksmith Shop

2x4’s need to be removed and replaced with a timber-framed structure
built internally to support the building

Narrow alley between buildings needs to be re-graded for improved
drainage to help decrease wood rot. Gutters are also needed.
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Floor needs replacement

The footings need to be poured for timber framed
structure
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Water damaged to ceiling and walls left deteriorating
wall boards.




V084

A notorious dance hall was the
original occupant of this 1863
building which encompasses a
small cabin of V-notched logs,
one of the first built in June of
that year. Tall French doors and
a few dentils clinging to the
fagade recall its former dance
hall elegance. Converted to a
blacksmith shop in the 1870s,
Charles Sauerbier and his son
Karl operated the business until
the 1940s. Original tools and
machinery are still in place, and
various additions chronicle the
building’s history in boards, nails
and labor.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
Prior to 1869
Date of Preservation
2000

Estimated Cost to Preserve

$125,000

Sauerbier Blacksmith Shop

Sauerbier Blacksmith

False front needs to be repaired; New Roof

Front wall is starting to buckle out which needs to be stabilized and
repaired
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Roof boards need to be repaired or replaced

Floor boards need to be repaired or replaced
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Back doors need to be repaired




V085

Retail liquor dealer J. F. Stoer
operated here from the 1860s
until about 1890. From that
time until 1908, Smith and Boyd
who ran the livery next door ran
this establishment, aptly
renamed the “Bale of Hay.” After
1908, the building stood empty
until 1946 when the Boveys
saved it from collapse and added
a front porch. In 1983 a fire
heavily damaged the building.
Construction to repair the
building was confined to the
saloon’s interior, allowing the
outer square-hewn log walls,
supported by a new inner
structure, to remain in place.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1863
Date of Preservation

1943, 1983

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$35,000

Bale of Hay Saloon

Back & Front porch needs repair

Back room needs to be refinished

Door and window preservation needed

75




V086

Charlie Bovey built this
connection between the
Bale of Hay Saloon and the
Opera House. He got the
design from a historic
photograph dating to the
1820s at this location.

Location

Block 193 - Wallace Street,
Virginia City

Date Constructed
1949
Date of Preservation
1946, 1983

Estimated Cost to
Preserve

$15,000

Bale of Hay Connection
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Exterior logs need to be oiled

New floor needed




Vo087

This false-fronted rubble stone
barn was constructed by Smith
and Boyd replacing a log livery
stable. The stone part of the
building where the front doors
and windows remain as they
were at the turn of the century.
The barn was converted to a
theater in 1949, with additions
made to the rear. The porch was
salvaged from the famous
Morgan Evans Mansion near
Anaco